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I.   INTRODUCTION


Plaintiff Yodit INDIVIDUAL  seeks class certification for all concierges and parking attendants of DEFENDANT , Inc. from 2004 – present for five causes of action.  These causes of action are 1) Misclassification of Employees as Independent Contracts, 2) Failure to pay overtime compensation, 3) Failure to provide meal or rest breaks, 4) Failure to provide accurate wage statements, and 6) Unfair Competition.  

It should be initially noted that since the filing of the Plaintiff’s Motion for Class Certification, the First Cause of action for Misclassification of Employees has been stricken by the court in Defendant’s Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings on November 20, 2009.  A majority of Plaintiff’s Motion for Class Certification pertains to Plaintiffs allegations regarding this first cause of action, which is now moot.  In regards to Plaintiff’s remaining causes of action, Plaintiff has failed to provide any evidence supporting the contentions made within her Motion or her class claims, and further cannot demonstrate that even she is entitled to the relief which she seeks. 

In support of her motion, Plaintiff provides only her own self-serving declaration, and the declaration of Stephanie INDIVIDUAL , a former payroll clerk for Defendant.  However, significantly, both of these declarations are silent regarding the allegations contained within the Plaintiff’s remaining operative claims.  Furthermore, in their Depositions, both Plaintiff and her Declarant Stephanie INDIVIDUAL  recanted and/or refuted many of Plaintiffs claims.  
Furthermore, through this motion Plaintiff seeks to bind an officer of DEFENDANT , Inc., INDIVIDUAL , to the Class Certification, and liability in this action.  However, Plaintiff fails to assert any theory of liability which would make an individual officer liable for these claims, and also fails to provide even a single argument or any piece of evidence which would suggest that INDIVIDUAL  should be held individually liable for these Claims.  Based upon this lack of evidence alone, Class Certification against INDIVIDUAL  should be denied in its entirety.  

This Case is unmanageable as a class action because 1) Plaintiff has failed to ascertain which employees are members of her alleged classes, and the number of potential class members are not sufficiently numerous, 2) The Plaintiff is not similarly situated to the Classes she purport to represent and she is not an adequate representatives because of her conflicting interests, and 3) There are no common issues of law or facts which extend to the entire proposed Class of Concierges and Valet Parking Attendants.  Since by her own admissions Plaintiff is not similarly situated to the Class she purports to represent, and has not provided any evidence support her class-claims, Defendant respectfully requests that the court Deny Plaintiff’s Motion for Class Certification in its entirety.  

II.
FACTS OF CASE

DEFENDANT , Inc. was founded in December, 2006.  (Exhibit A, Secretary of State Report).  DEFENDANT  is in the business of providing Parking Attendant, Doorman and Concierge Services to Residential Condominiums, Businesses, Hotels and Restaurants in Los Angeles.  All employees are provided with Employment Manuals, Training and information regarding the expectations of their Position upon their Hire (Plaintiff’s Exhibit 3, attached to the Plaintiff’s Motion). DEFENDANT , Inc. requires all employees to sign an acknowledgement of receipt of the handbook at their time of hire (Exhibit B, Employee Manual, pg 30, Decl of INDIVIDUAL , pg23, ln28).  

The services DEFENDANT  offers will vary depending upon the needs of the client location.  Many locations may only require a Concierge to supervise the entry to the building.  Others may require full-service with numerous Parking Attendants, Concierges and Valets (Exh. C, Deposition of Yodit INDIVIDUAL , pg 20, lns 7-20, pg 38, lns6-8).  For locations requiring Parking Attendants, there are numerous positions the Parking Attendants may have. The Duties include Greeting a customer as they arrive in the lot, opening the car doors, providing tickets to the customer, Parking the cars, receiving tickets from customers as they leave, handling customer payments, and retrieving items and cars from the lot. (Declarations of Valets, Exhibits J-RR, ¶14).  


The Duties of a Concierge at the Legacy at Westwood include maintaining the front desk, helping the residents, calling residents and letting them know when a guest or package has arrived. (Exh. C, Depo of INDIVIDUAL , 20:7-21:13).  The Concierge for this customer location stays at the desk, and handles tasks such as making reservations for the business center and recreation room, keeping the coffee station clean and refilled, taking out the trash and checking the fax machine for residents. (Exhibit E, Concierge/Courtesy Patrol Checklist).  However, the Valet Parking Attendants park and retrieve customer cars, greet customers, handle customer tickets, and handle cash payments from customers depending on the type of location. (Exhibit E, Valet Parking Check Lists, Exh. J, Declaration of Ryan INDIVIDUAL, ¶4-6, Exh. K, Declaration of Stephen INDIVIDUAL ¶2, Exh. L, Declaration of Shawn INDIVIDUAL ¶3).  

Plaintiff Yodit INDIVIDUAL  was hired by Defendant DEFENDANT  Inc. as a full-time concierge on January 7, 2008 (Exh. C, Decl of INDIVIDUAL  pg23, ¶2).  Plaintiff worked at the customer location – The Legacy at Westwood (Exh. C, Depo of INDIVIDUAL  20:16-20).    Plaintiff never worked as a Valet Parking Attendant (Exh. C, Depo of INDIVIDUAL , 32:11-19), and Plaintiff never worked at any other locations  (Exh. C, Depo of INDIVIDUAL  32:16-24).  Plaintiff also received a copy of the Handbook and signed the notice of acknowledgement (Exh C, Depo of Yodit INDIVIDUAL , Pg 134, ln 4-16, Plaintiff’s Declaration of Yodit INDIVIDUAL , attached to Plaintiff’s Motion for Class Certification (“Decl of INDIVIDUAL ” hereafter), pg 23, ¶6).
Plaintiff’s only supporting witness is Stephanie INDIVIDUAL .  Stephanie INDIVIDUAL  was hired in June 2008 as an office manager. (Exh. D, Depo of Stephanie INDIVIDUAL  11:18-23).  In that position, Stephanie INDIVIDUAL  only interactions with the Valet Parking attendants or Concierges was if they called into the office to ask questions (Exh. D, Depo of INDIVIDUAL  13:4-19)  Ms. INDIVIDUAL  never worked as a valet, concierge or parking attendant (Exh. D, Depo of INDIVIDUAL  42:16-25).  She also never worked at a customer site (Exh. D, Depo of INDIVIDUAL  43:1-4).  She also had no idea what the employees at the job site were doing regarding breaks or meal periods because she did not interact with these employees. (Exh. D, Depo of INDIVIDUAL  68:4-25).  

Plaintiff’s last date of employment was August 1, 2008 (Exh. C, Depo of INDIVIDUAL  74: 4-13)  On October 27, 2008, Plaintiff filed this instant lawsuit.  

III.
LEGAL STANDARDS FOR CERTIFYING A CLASS 


When appropriately brought, class actions may serve an important purpose.  However, because “group action also has the potential to create injustice, trial courts are required to carefully weigh respective benefits and burdens and to allow maintenance of the class action only where substantial benefits accrue both to litigants and the courts.” Linder v. Thrifty Oil, 23 Cal. 4th 429, 435 (2000).  A class action is not viable unless it advances “the goal of efficiency that underlies the class action procedure.”  Gatusso v. Harte-Hanks, 133 Cal.App. 4th 985, 998 (2005).  Plaintiffs bear the burden of proving all elements required for class certification by a preponderance of admissible evidence.  Hamwi v. Citinational-Buckeye Investment Co., 72 Cal.App. 3d 462, 470-472 (1977).  Plaintiffs cannot rely on mere allegations or conclusions.  Id.


In order to maintain a class action, there must be both an ascertainable class and a well-defined community of interest among the class members.  Linder, 23 Cal.3d at 435.  The latter inquiry involved the following three factors: (1) predominant common questions of law or fact, (2) class representatives with claims or defenses typical of the class and (3) class representatives who can adequately represent the class. Linder v. Thrifty Oil Co., (2000) 23 Cal 4th 429, 435.  Richmond v. Dart Industries, Inc. 29 Cal.3d 462, 470 (1981).  Common questions do not predominate and a “class action cannot be maintained where each member’s right to recover depends on facts peculiar to his case.” City of San Jose v. Superior Court, 12 Cal. 3d 447, 459-463 (1974).  


Trial courts must carefully weigh the respective benefits and burdens and allow maintenance of Class Actions only where substantial benefits accrue both to the litigants and the courts. City of San Jose, 12 Cal.3d 447, 460(1974).  Thus, “if  a class action will splinter into individual trial, common questions do not predominate and litigation of the action in the class format is inappropriate.”  Hamwi, 72 Cal.App.3d at 472 (quotations omitted) (emphasis added).  A furthermore critical inquiry on a class certification motion is whether “the theory of recovery advanced by the proponents of certification is, as an analytical matter, likely to prove amenable to class treatment.” (Sav-On Drug Stores, Inc. v. Superior Court (2004) 34 Cal.4th 319, 327).  In order to determine whether common questions of law or fact predominate, “the trial court must examine the issues framed by the pleadings and the law applicable to the causes of action alleged.” Hicks v. Kaufman and Broad Home Corp. (2001) 89 Cal.App.4th 908, 916 (Hicks), citing Vasquez v. Superior Court (1971) 4 CaL.3D 800, 810-811.).  

IV.
PLAINTIFF’S CLASSES DO NOT MEET THE REQUIREMENTS FOR CLASS CERTIFICATION.  

A. PLAINTIFF FAILED TO SET FORTH AN ASCERTAINABLE CLASS


“The existence of an ascertainable class is a precondition of class certification.”  Hypertouch, Inc. v. Superior Court, 128 Cal.App.4th 1527, 1549 (2005).  Courts must examine the proposed class definition and the “means available for identifying class members.”  Global Minerals & Metals Corp. v. Superior Court, 113 Cal.App.4th 836, 849 (2003).  Ascertainability is required in order to give notice to putative class member who may be affected by the judgment.  It is defined in terms of “Objective characteristics and common transactional facts making the ultimate identification of class members possible. Hicks v. Kaufman & Broad Home Corp. (2001) 89 Cal.App.4th 908, 915.  Whether a class is ascertainable is determined by examining (1) the class definition, (2) the size of the class, and (3) the means available for identifying class members.  Reyes v. Board of Supervisors of San Diego County (1987) 196 Cal.App. 3d 1263, 1271.  


In this case, Plaintiff seeks to certify a class of “All persons who were employed by Defendant as non-exempt concierges and parking attendants in the State of California between October 27, 2004 to the Present, who performed the duties of concierges and parking attendants (collectively, Defendant’s non-exempt employees).”(Plaintiff’s Motion at pg. 1, ln 19).  It should initially be pointed out that, DEFENDANT  has only been in business since December 2006, thus has not existed for four years preceding the filing of this complaint in October, 2008. (Exhibit A).   


Additionally, Plaintiff seeks to certify this class based upon five separate causes of action and five different theories of liability.  While it is undisputed that the Regent employees are easily identifiable from the parking attendant’s time and payroll records, it is very difficult to lump all concierges, and valet parking attendants into the Plaintiff’s proposed Claims.  DEFENDANT  is in the business of providing Parking Attendant, Doorman and Concierge Services to Residential Condominiums, Businesses, Hotels and Restaurants in Los Angeles.  The services DEFENDANT  offers will vary depending upon the needs of the client location.  Many locations may only require a Concierge to supervise the entry to the building.  Others may require full-service with numerous Parking Attendants, Concierges and Valets (Deposition of Yodit INDIVIDUAL , pg 20, lns 7-20, pg 38, lns6-8).  For locations requiring Parking Attendants, there are numerous positions the Parking Attendants may have. The Duties include Greeting a customer as they arrive in the lot, opening the car doors, providing tickets to the customer, Parking the cars, receiving tickets from customers as they leave, handling customer payments, and retrieving items and cars from the lot. (Declarations of Valets, Exhibits F-JJ, ¶14).  
The Duties of a Concierge at the Legacy at Westwood include maintaining the front desk, helping the residents, calling residents and letting them know when a guest or package has arrived. (Depo of INDIVIDUAL , 20:7-21:13).  The Concierge for this customer location stays at the desk, and handles tasks such as making reservations for the business center and recreation room, keeping the coffee station clean and refilled, taking out the trash and checking the fax machine for residents. (Exhibit E, Concierge/Courtesy Patrol Checklist).  
However, the Valet Parking Attendants park and retrieve customer cars, greet customers, handle customer tickets, and handle cash payments from customers depending on the type of location. (Exhibit C, Valet Parking Check Lists, Declaration of Ryan Taalbi, ¶4-6, Declaration of Stephen INDIVIDUAL ¶2, Declaration of Shawn INDIVIDUAL ¶3).  


Plaintiffs proposed classes and/or subclasses are not ascertainable because each of these varied work positions and job requirements create an individualized inquiry as to whether each of the employees would fit into any or all of the Plaintiff’s proposed class claims.  For this reason, Plaintiff has failed to demonstrate that the proposed classes or sub-classes are ascertainable. 


 B.
PLAINTIFF’S PROPOSED CLASS IS NOT NUMEROUS

The proposed Plaintiff Class must be sufficiently numerous so that the joinder of its members is impracticable. Richmond, supra, at 470.  In this case, Plaintiff contends that during the class period, Defendant employed approximately 400 persons who performed Valet Parking services.  However, Plaintiff has not demonstrated which of those 400 valet parking attendants or concierges were actually members of her proposed classes.  

Defendant had established written policies regarding overtime and meal and rest periods which complied with California Law (Exhibit B, Employee Handbook).  Furthermore, Defendant provided all employees with a copy of the handbook, and sign an acknowledgement of receipt (Exhibit B).  As the Declarations of Concierge’s and Valet’s confirm, the alleged class allegations of unpaid overtime and missed meal and rest periods did not occur for a majority of Defendant’s employees.  (Declarations of Valets, Exhibits F-OO).  Defendants believe that even if Plaintiff were able to individually interview each Concierge and Parking Attendant and learn if they worked overtime without additional compensation, or if they were unable to take a meal or rest period, the number of eligible class members would be extremely small.  Plaintiff has not provided even a single witness or eligible class member who supports the Plaintiffs claims.  


Based upon Plaintiff’s lack of evidence, and a failure to identify even one other employee similarly situated to the Plaintiff, Defendant submits that the Plaintiffs proposed class is not sufficient to warrant a Class Action.  As stated in Code of Civil Procedure §384, a class action is only appropriate when the partiers are numerous, “and it is impracticable to bring them all before the court”.  Since the alleged Plaintiff has not been able to demonstrate that any other employees have suffered the same alleged Labor Code violations which she claims, the proposed class is not sufficiently numerous.  

C.  PLAINTIFF’S CLAIMS ARE NOT TYPICAL OF THE CLASS SHE PURPORTS TO REPRESENT.  

To meet the typicality prong, the Named Plaintiffs’ interest in the action must be similar to that of the other members of the proposed class.  Richmond, supra, at 47-75, Classen v. Weller (1983) 145 Cal.App.3d 27, 46.    The class representatives must demonstrate that they are similarly situated to the claims of the other class members, and their claims are based on the same legal theory Rosack v. Volvo of America Corporation (1982) 131 Cal.App.3d 741, 763.  

Unlike the class of Parking Attendants and Concierges which Plaintiff wishes to represent, Plaintiff Yodit INDIVIDUAL  never held a position of a Valet or Parking Attendant, and only worked in one location – the Legacy at Westwood.  (Exh. C, Depo of INDIVIDUAL  20:16-20).  Plaintiff never worked as a Valet Parking Attendant (Exh. C, Depo of INDIVIDUAL , 32:11-19), and Plaintiff never worked at any other locations (Exh. C, Depo of INDIVIDUAL  32:16-24).  Furthermore, the Plaintiff admits that she has no knowledge of how employees of other locations, or how even the valets at her location were treated regarding their overtime, meal or rest periods ( Exh. C, Depo of INDIVIDUAL  62:13-23). Furthermore, Plaintiff admits that during her entire employment she worked alone during her shift, (Exh. C, Depo of INDIVIDUAL  68:14-24), and therefore cannot state how other employees who worked together handled overtime, meal and rest periods. 
Plaintiff’s claims all stem around her unique issue that she worked alone at the Concierge Desk, and therefore could not be relieved for meal or rest periods, and was required to work overtime when the next shift employee did not arrive on time.  However, the majority of DEFENDANT  customer locations do not require an employee to work alone, but rather have a staff of 2-14 Valets and Concierges working together.  Many locations may only require a Concierge to supervise the entry to the building.  Others may require full-service with numerous Parking Attendants, Concierges and Valets (Deposition of Yodit INDIVIDUAL , pg 20, lns 7-20, pg 38, lns6-8).  For locations requiring Parking Attendants, there are numerous positions the Parking Attendants may have. The Duties include Greeting a customer as they arrive in the lot, opening the car doors, providing tickets to the customer, Parking the cars, receiving tickets from customers as they leave, handling customer payments, and retrieving items and cars from the lot. (Declarations of Valets, Exhibits F-JJ, ¶14, Exhibit E, Valet Parking Check Lists, Exh J, Declaration of Ryan INDIVIDUAL, ¶4-6, Exh. K, Declaration of Stephen Stocker ¶2, Exh. L, Declaration of Shawn INDIVIDUAL ¶3).  The Duties of a Concierge at the Legacy at Westwood include maintaining the front desk, helping the residents, calling residents and letting them know when a guest or package has arrived. (Exh. C, Depo of INDIVIDUAL , 20:7-21:13).  The Concierge for this customer location stays at the desk, and handles tasks such as making reservations for the business center and recreation room, keeping the coffee station clean and refilled, taking out the trash and checking the fax machine for residents. (Exhibit E, Concierge/Courtesy Patrol Checklist).  


Simply put, Plaintiff INDIVIDUAL  is not an adequate Class Representative because Plaintiffs situation is not typical of all Valets and Concierges since Plaintiff’s work environment was not typical of the other employees.  

D.
PLAINTIFF IS NOT AN ADEQUATE REPRESENTATIVE FOR THE PURPORTED CLASSES
To maintain a class action, the representative plaintiff must adequately represent and protect the interests of other members of the class.  Simons v. Horowitz (1984) 151 Cal.App.3d 834, 846.  There are two criteria that a Class Representative has to meet in order to be deemed adequate: (1) that they are zealous fiduciaries, and (2) that there are no existing antagonisms or conflicts with the class members.  City of San Jose v. Superior Court(1974) 12 Cal.3d 447, 464.  

Plaintiff has failed to provide any evidence regarding this element.  Rather, she contends that she is adequate simply because she has been damaged in the same manner, and seeks the same relief (Motion at pg. 13).  However, this mere conclusory statement does not meet the adequacy requirement.  Rather, Plaintiff is required to show through admissible evidence that the adequacy requirement is met by fulfilling two conditions – 1) the named Plaintiff must be represented by counsel qualified to conduct the litigation, 2) the named Plaintiff’s interest in the litigation must not be antagonistic to the class; in other words, she must have no disabling conflict of interest that might hinder the prosecution of the action on behalf of the class. (McGhee v. Bank of America (1976) 60 Cal.App.3d 442, 451.)  While it is undisputed that Plaintiff’s class counsel have provided declarations attesting to their adequacy, Plaintiff has not provided any evidence that her interests are not antagonistic to the class.  


Since plaintiff fails to provide any evidence regarding this required element, the Class Certification should be denied in its entirety.  

E. COMMON ISSUES OF FACTS AND LAW DO NOT PREDOMINATE


Common issues predominate only when they are the “principal issues… both in terms of time to be expended in their proof and of their importance.”  Vazquez v. Superior Court, 4 Cal.3d 800, 810 (1971), McCullah v. S. Cal.Gas Co. 82 Cal.App.4th 495, 500 (2000) Declined to certify a class because the question before the court requires a case-by-case inquiry.  This strict limitation is predicated upon notions of due process that protect both defendants and absent class members.  In that regard, the California Supreme held that it is mindful of “the accompanying dangers of injustice or of the limited scope within which these suits serve beneficial purposes.”  San Jose, 12 Cal.3d at 459.  The Supreme Court in Sav-On, instructed courts to determine “whether the theory of recovery advanced by the proponents of certification is, as an analytical matter, likely to prove amenable to class treatment.” Sav-on, 34 Cal.4th at 326.  In Sav-on, the plaintiffs’ theory of recovery” was that the class members were uniformly treated based upon “uniform company policies and practices”.  However, the facts in this case couldn’t be any more different than those advanced in Sav-On.  In this case, there will be no common evidence which the plaintiff can use to prove their facts and resolve the legal issues which apply to every Class Member’s Claim. 


Furthermore, it will be shown that Plaintiff’s theory of liability and recovery for Violation of Labor Code are simply untenable and Plaintiff does not have a realistic chance of being successful on the merits of her claim.  In Carabini v. Superior Court (1994) 26 Cal.App.4th 239 TA \l "Carabini v. Superior Court (1994) 26 Cal.App.4th 239" \s "Carabini v. Superior Court" \c 1 , 245, the court instructed that ‘The court may consider the merits of a claim only to determine whether there is a realistic chance for recovery.’ (citation omitted).” Bartold v. Glendale Federal Bank (2000) 81 Cal.App.4th 816 TA \l "Bartold v. Glendale Federal Bank (2000) 81 Cal.App.4th 816" \s "Bartold v. Glendale Federal Bank" \c 1 .  The court should not make any determination of merits or validity of claims, except where claims are enmeshed with class action requirements the court must consider evidence as to necessary factual elements to determine certification]; Linder v. Thrifty Oil Co. (2000) 23 Cal.4th 429 TA \l "Linder v. Thrifty Oil Co. (2000) 23 Cal.4th 429" \s "Linder v. Thrifty Oil Co." \c 1 .


1. plaintiff’s theory of recovery FOR UNPAID OVERTIME is untenable


Plaintiff has alleged that putative class members of DEFENDANT , Inc. were all required to work overtime without additional compensation.  However, Plaintiff does not provide even one supporting piece of evidence for this contention.

Throughout her employment, Plaintiff INDIVIDUAL  used a Time-Card to record the hours she worked (Exh. C, Depo of INDIVIDUAL  125:22-126:2)  Plaintiff also admits that she clocked-in when she started a shift, and always clocked-out at the end of her shift (Exh. C, Depo of INDIVIDUAL  28:4-17).  Plaintiff admits that she is only making a claim for overtime which is reflected on her time cards (Exh. C, Depo of INDIVIDUAL  133:6-134:3).  Ms. INDIVIDUAL  confirmed that all employees use a time-punch card to record their hours (Exh. D, Depo of INDIVIDUAL  14:25-15:4).  


The Employee handbook also provides that “If you are a regular full-time employee, your normal workweek will consist of eight (8) hours per day, five (5) days per workweek.” (DEFENDANT  Employee Handbook, Exh. 3 of Plaintiff’s Motion, pg 4)  Furthermore, the Handbook provides that “Hourly paid employees shall be paid one and one-half (1 ½) their regular straight-time for each quarter-hour  of work over forty (40) in a work week … Please remember that you are not permitted to work overtime unless it has been authorized in advance by your supervisor.  Employees working unauthorized overtime may be subject to disciplinary action.” (DEFENDANT  Employee Handbook, Exh 3 of Plaintiff’s Motion, pg 5)


Plaintiff worked alone for her entire employment (Exh. C, Depo of INDIVIDUAL  68:14-24 During almost her entire employment, Plaintiff’s working schedule was 3:00 pm to 11:00 pm – 5 days a week (Exh. C, Depo of INDIVIDUAL  29:14-16, 31:11-12), and Plaintiff admits that she was never scheduled to work any overtime  (Exh. C, Depo of INDIVIDUAL  82:1-83:9).  Plaintiff admits that the only reason she ever worked any overtime was because the person who was scheduled to relieve her was not there on time (Depo of INDIVIDUAL  68:14-24).  

Plaintiff admits that she has no knowledge of whether the valets did not get paid overtime. (Exh. C, Depo of INDIVIDUAL  62:13-23).  However, other employees agree that they were never scheduled to work overtime
  Stephanie INDIVIDUAL , who handled the payroll for the company also confirmed that employees were scheduled to work eight-hours Shifts (Exh. D, Depo of INDIVIDUAL  28:4-29:23).  She also stated that when employees worked more than their scheduled eight hours, they were not scheduled or authorized to do so (Exh. D, Depo of INDIVIDUAL  29:6-23).  Ms. INDIVIDUAL  confirmed that if a manager authorized an employee to work overtime, she would pay the employee time and a half for that time (Exh. D, Depo of INDIVIDUAL  53:4-13)


Plaintiff INDIVIDUAL  claims that she clocked in five-minutes early for every shift. (Exh. D, Depo of INDIVIDUAL  43:17-44).  Her Time-Clock records confirm that she frequently clocked in between 1-10 minutes early for her shift. (Exhibit G, Plaintiff’s Time Cards).  


Plaintiff contends that she was required to work between and hour to two hours of overtime an average of 2-3 times per week (Exh. C, Depo of INDIVIDUAL  47:17-25, 51:21-52:5).  However, Plaintiff’s Time records demonstrate she only worked more than an hour of overtime once in her entire employment – on March 5, 2008 (Exhibit G,  Plaintiff’s Time Records).  When questioned about the time-cards and her recollections of the hours she worked she responded “I don’t know.  I couldn’t answer that questions, but I’m pretty sure there are some timecards that will show you that.” (Exh. C, Depo of INDIVIDUAL  128:4-20)  Yet Plaintiff admits that her time card records were an accurate reflection of the hours she worked, and that she was not making a claim for any time worked beyond what was recorded on her time-records (Exh. C, Depo of INDIVIDUAL  133:6-134:3).  Plaintiff’s Time records confirm that she would clock-out between 2-7 minutes after her shift was scheduled to end, and did not regularly work overtime.  (Exh G, Plaintiff INDIVIDUAL ’s Time Records).   These few minutes of daily alleged overtime total less than 11 hours for her entire employment.  (Exh F, G, Plaintiff’s Time Records and Summary of Hours).  

Plaintiff’s claim for these “long hours” is not specifically addressed by existing California Law.  However, the Federal Code of Regulations, and the Department of Labor have specifically addressed this issue.  In California, a federal court’s interpretation of a federal law is “persuasive and entitled to great weight”.  Etcheverry v. Tri-Ag Serv., Inc. 22 Cal. 4th 316, 320, Vasquez v. Superior Court, 4 Cal. 3rd 800, 821).  Federal Regulation 29 CFR 785.47 provides that “In recording working time under the Act, insubstantial or insignificant periods of time beyond the scheduled working hours, which cannot as a practical administrative matter be precisely recorded for payroll purposes, may be disregarded.  The courts have held that such trifles are de minimus”. (emphasis added)  Furthermore, 29 CFR 785.48 provides that “In those cases where time clocks are used, employees who voluntarily come in before their regular starting time or remain after their closing time, do not have to be paid for such periods, provided, of course, that they do not engage in any work.  Their early or late clock punching may be disregarded.” (Attached as Exhibit A to the Defendant’s Request for Judicial Notice).  
The Department of Labor’s Field Operations Handbook covers this subject in Chapter 30: “Records, Minimum Wage, and Payment of Wages”, and states: “In recording working time, insubstantial or insignificant periods of time outside the scheduled working hours may be disregarded…. It has been found that in some industries, particularly where time clocks are used, there has been the practice or recording the employee’s starting and stopping time to the nearest five minutes, or to the nearest one-tenth or quarter of an hour.” (Attached as Exhibit B to the Defendant’s Request for Judicial Notice).  
Furthermore, the California Courts have confirmed that employers can only be held liable for these claims if the employer knows or should have known the employee was working ‘off-the-clock’.  (Morillion v. Royal Packing Co., 22 Cal.4th at p 585).  In the instant case, Plaintiff’s claims for unpaid overtime because of these early punch-in and late punch-out minutes is not amenable to class treatment.  The resolution of these claims would require individual inquires in to whether any employee actually worked beyond their scheduled shift, whether managers had actual or constructive knowledge of such work and whether managers coerced or encouraged such work.  Indeed, most employees agreed that they were never scheduled to work any overtime.  (Declarations of Employees, Exhibits J-00, ¶10).  

It is perhaps most significant that the Plaintiff’s only supporting witness, Stephanie INDIVIDUAL  confirmed that if an employee was scheduled to work overtime, then they would be provided with overtime compensation. (Exh D, Depo of INDIVIDUAL  53:4-13).  Furthermore, the Schedules which Plaintiff provides in support of her Motion demonstrate that most DEFENDANT  Employees were never scheduled to work more than 8 hours per day, or more than 40 Hours per week.  (Plaintiff’s Exhibit 2 – Employee Schedules).  


Plaintiff’s theory of liability for unpaid overtime is not sufficient to support the certification of a class action because Plaintiff cannot demonstrate that there exists any common policies or practices which violated the law, or caused employees to be denied overtime payment.  
2.
PLAINTIFF’S CLAIM FOR UNPAID MEAL AND REST BREAKS IS NOT COMMON TO THE ALLEGED CLASS.  
Plaintiff contends that she and the putative class share common facts and law relating to meal and rest break violations pursuant to Labor Code § 226.7 and Labor Code § 512.  Labor Code § 512 states:

An employer may not employ an employee for a work period of more than five hours per day without providing the employee with a meal period of not less than 30 minutes,…  An employer may not employ an employee for a work period of more than 10 hours per day without providing the employee with a second meal period of not less than 30 minutes…” 

Plaintiff argues that Defendant has not provided meal or rest periods to their employees.  However, Plaintiff’s motion is entirely devoid of any supporting argument or facts to support this claim.  Plaintiff claims that she was never able to take any breaks throughout her employment (Exh. C, Depo of INDIVIDUAL  37:2-12).  She contends that she was unable to take any meal periods or rest periods at her location because she worked by herself and  had no-one to relieve her at the desk (Depo of INDIVIDUAL  40:17-41:6, 41:21-42:24)  However, Plaintiff also stated that she would take her breaks to eat by going into a back closet (Depo of INDIVIDUAL  41:23-42:24).

The DEFENDANT  Employee Handbook Provides that “All Employees are provided a 10-minute rest period during each four-hour period worked.  An unpaid meal period of one-half hour, depending on your position, is provided for employees who work in excess of a five-hour shift.”  (Exh. B, Employee Handbook, Exh. C, Decl of INDIVIDUAL  83:25-84:4, and Exhibit 3 of Plaintiff’s Motion for Class Certification, pg4)  Plaintiff admits that she was informed by written policy that she was entitled to take breaks, yet felt that she was unable to take them because she was alone. (Depo of INDIVIDUAL  43: 5-16).  Plaintiff admitted that she has no knowledge of whether the valet parking attendants received meal or rest breaks (Depo of INDIVIDUAL  31: 3-10, 41:7-20).  She further admitted that other employees who worked together might have been able to take breaks (Depo of INDIVIDUAL  41:7-17).    

However, employees of DEFENDANT  confirmed that they are regularly able to take their 10 minute Rest Breaks and 30 Minute Lunch Breaks
.  Even more significantly, the employees confirmed that they have never been told that they cannot take a break by anyone at DEFENDANT 
.  Furthermore, Plaintiff confirms that her situation of failure to receive meal and rest breaks was not common to the entire class of people she purports to represent.  In response to written discovery requests, plaintiff stated: “Plaintiff never had a chance to take lunch or rest periods due to the fact that she was the only concierge there between 3-11 pm.  The Legacy is a 24 hour Concierge Service and Plaintiff was told not to ever leave the front desk empty, with the exception of maybe 1 week out of her entire employment there.  The situation is the same whenever the Concierge service desk was manned by a single person”.  (Exhibit I, Plaintiff’s Response to Special Interrogatory Nos. 16). 

California Code of Regulations 11040(12)(A) further states:

“Every employer shall authorize and permit all employees to take rest periods, which insofar as practicable shall be in the middle of each work period.  The authorized rest period time shall be based on the total hours worked daily at the rate of ten (10) minutes net rest time per four (4) hours or major fraction thereof.”
The legislature has recognized that it is not always practicable to force a 10 minute rest break into the middle of every 4 hours.  There are circumstances that will dictate that a 10 minute rest break may need to be delayed based on the fluctuation of working conditions.  


Defendant has demonstrated below that its policies were to provide meal periods (Exhibit B) and all declarants agreed that they were able to take meal and rest periods, thus this claim is not amenable to class treatment.  


3.
PLAINTIFF’S CLAIM FOR VIOLATION OF LABOR CODE 226 IS UNTENABLE BECAUSE DEFENDANT’S ITEMIZED STATEMENTS OF INCOME WERE COMPLIANT WITH THE LAW.  
California Labor Code § 226(a) states that

“At the time of each payment of wages, an employer shall provide a itemized statement in writing showing the 1) gross wages earned, 2) total hours worked by the employee, 3)number of piece-rate units earned, the rate for each unit, 4) all deductions, 5) net wages earned, 6) the inclusive dates of the period for which the employee is paid, 7) the name and social security number of the employee, 8) the name and address of the employer, and 9) all applicable hourly rates in effect during the pay period and the corresponding number of hours worked at each hourly rate by the employee.”  (Emphasis added).


Plaintiff’s Motion contends that Defendant “did not record hours worked and failed to provide its employees with any wage and hour statements or itemization of wages.  Moreover, Defendant did not pay Plaintiff’s employment taxes” (Plaintiff’s Motion on page 12, ln6-8).  However, Plaintiff and her only witness, Stephanie INDIVIDUAL  refute all of these claims in their depositions.  Firstly, in direct contradiction with this argument, Plaintiff actually attaches her itemized statements of income to her Motion (Exhibit 4 of Plaintiff’s Motion)  

Furthermore, in Deposition, INDIVIDUAL  contended that the only violations of Labor Code §226 were that she does not believe that her taxes were paid correctly (Depo of INDIVIDUAL  107:15-25), because she believed that she was not paid for hours she worked, and because her marital status was improperly listed as “single” (Depo of INDIVIDUAL  115: 23-116:4). 

Stephanie INDIVIDUAL  confirmed that DEFENDANT , Inc utilized a payroll service – ADP, to prepare their itemized statements of income (Depo of INDIVIDUAL  59:13-20).  

A cursory examination of the Paystubs provided by Plaintiff as Exhibit 6 for her Motion for Class Certification demonstrates that each of the 9 requirements under Labor Code §226 are met with the wage statements.  (Plaintiff’s Exhibit 4, Itemized Statement of Income, Exh. H, Itemized Statement of Income).  


Interestingly, Plaintiff herself could not identify any specific problems with her Itemized Statements of Wages in response to written discovery.  Plaintiff stated “Itemized wage statements must contain specific information and be accurate.  The paystubs provided to Plaintiff did not meet the requirements of Labor Code §226”  (Plaintiffs Response to Special Interrogatory No. 8, Exhibit I).  Yet Plaintiff failed to identify any specific requirement of Labor Code §226 which is violated in any of the Plaintiff’s itemized statements of income.  Furthermore, Plaintiff admitted that she never made any complaints to DEFENDANT  about any alleged problems with her wage statements (Plaintiff’s Response to Special Interrogatory No. 9, Exhibit I).  

Furthermore, there is no requirement under Labor Code §226 that defendant “pay plaintiff’s employment taxes” to comply with this Labor Code.  Simply put, Plaintiff has failed to establish that Defendant has committed any violations of Labor Code §226, and has failed to demonstrate that there exists any common questions or fact or law which would support class certification regarding this claim.  For these reasons, Class certification should be denied in regards to plaintiff’s claim for Labor Code §226.   

4.
PLAINTIFF HAS ABSOLUTELY NO SUPPORT FOR A CLASS ACTION CLAIM AGAINST INDIVIDUAL , A DEFENDANT , INC OFFICER

It is undisputed that a corporate officer cannot be held liable for the wage and hour violations of a corporation based on the individual's status alone, including the fact that he owned or otherwise controlled the corporation as was the case here. The court acknowledged California courts have consistently held that individual officers, directors, shareholders, and managers of a corporation cannot be considered personally liable for the corporation's failure to pay wages to employees or for

related California Labor Code violations. See, e.g., Reynolds v. Bement, 36 Cal.4th 1075 (2005); Bradstreet v. Wong, 161 Cal.App.4th 1440 (2008). The rationale has been that that none of the Labor Code sections at issue expressly define the term "employer." Rather, the courts have applied the common law definition of "employer," which does not include corporate agents acting within the scope of their agency.

In this instant case, Plaintiff amended her complaint on September 2, 2009 to include Defendant INDIVIDUAL  as a Doe Defendant.  INDIVIDUAL  is the President of DEFENDANT , Inc. (Exh. C, Depo of INDIVIDUAL )  However, significantly, Plaintiff’s Motion for Class Certification is entirely silent as to any allegations against INDIVIDUAL  as an employer of Plaintiff.  Rather, Plaintiff chooses to assert that Defendant INDIVIDUAL is a “convicted felon” without any evidentiary support, and seeks to bind him to the Class Certification.  Since Plaintiff fails to submit any evidence supporting her claim that Defendant INDIVIDUAL  should be held liable, and since Reynolds v Bement specifically prohibits such a claim, Plaintiff’s Motion for Class Certification as to INDIVIDUAL  should be denied in its entirety.  
F.
THIS SUIT IS NOT THE SUPERIOR METHODS OF RESOLVING THESE DISPUTES. 

In a Class Action Certification, the Moving Party has the burden of persuasion to establish “by a preponderance of the evidence that the class action proceeding is superior to alternative means for a fair and efficient adjudication of the litigation.” (Sav-On Drug Stores, Inc. v. Superior Court (2004) 34 Cal.4th 319, 326.)  The Superiority Criterion is manifest in the determination that a class action brought under CCP §382 would produce substantial benefits to the litigants and the judicial system.  Schneider v. Vennard (1986) 183 Cal.App. 3d 1340, 1347.  

Here, Plaintiff has not established that this class action is a superior method to resolving employee disputes regarding the alleged unpayment of overtime, and Meal and Rest Period Violations or Labor Code §226 Wage-Statement violations.  Given the lack of common questions of fact and law that exist in this case, and the vast difference that exist at different locations regarding the scheduling of employees, and the existence of a strong showing that DEFENDANT  did comply with the Law regarding these claims, this class action would not be superior to individual actions brought only by those who actually contend they are affected by this alleged violation.  
V.
CONCLUSION

For each of the Reasons stated above, Defendants believe that this case is not appropriate for the Class Action Device.  Plaintiff has failed to demonstrate that their Classes are ascertainable, that this action is a Superior method of resolving the disputes, or that there are a predominance of common questions of Fact and Law.  Furthermore, Plaintiff’s claims are not typical of class members she purports to represent, nor is they adequate representatives.  Therefore, defendants respectfully submit that Plaintiff’s Motion for Class Certification should be denied in its entirety.  
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1. I am an attorney duly licensed to practice law before all of the courts of the State of California.  I, the undersigned, am the attorney of record for Defendant DEFENDANT , Inc.

2. The facts set forth in this declaration are personally known to me and I have first hand knowledge of these facts.  I make this declaration in support of the Opposition to the Motion for Class Certification, filed herewith.  

3. Attached to this Motion as Exhibits A-TT are true and exact copies of the Evidence in this case.    

I declare under penalty of perjury under the laws of the State of California that the foregoing is true and correct.
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